

[image: ]










THE EYE OF THE STORM


THE VIEW FROM THE CENTRE


OF A POLITICAL SCANDAL


ROB WILSON









[image: ]




























CONTENTS











	Title Page


	Acknowledgements


	Introduction


	Chapter 1: Andrew Mitchell’s heartbreak


	Chapter 2: Liam Fox hunted down


	Chapter 3: Chris Huhne on the road to nowhere


	Chapter 4: Vince Cable goes to war


	Chapter 5: Jeremy Hunt loses control


	Chapter 6: Charles Clarke from hero to zero in under a year


	Chapter 7: Jacqui Smith on the home front


	Chapter 8: Backbenchers feel the pressure


	Chapter 9: William Hague’s four-year ordeal


	Chapter 10: Conclusion


	
Index 



	Copyright




























ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS





A number of people have helped with the writing of this book. Above all, I would like to thank sincerely those politicians who generously agreed to be interviewed and co-operate with my writing about their experiences. The events I describe were nearly always life-changing; in most instances the person lost their job and saw long-cherished career ambitions extinguished. Many of the matters at the heart of each chapter were embarrassing and the experiences were often personally very painful. In some cases, the emotions are clearly still raw.


Even for hardened politicians it cannot have been easy to dig up bad memories and talk with frankness about such difficult times. Some of those approached understandably refused to be interviewed. I hope that those who kindly gave me their time and shared their views and memories with me will feel that I have been fair, accurate and that the book serves a useful purpose.


I should also like to thank those around Westminster and in the media who have shown an interest in the book. Even brief and informal conversations have led me to sources or prompted me to ask questions about the various scandals and crises that I might otherwise have missed. Although the book is aimed equally at a politically-interested audience and the general public, I hope those within Westminster and the political media will find much of interest and much to reflect upon.


Once again, I would like to thank the team at Biteback Publishing for commissioning me to write a book, and for their support and patience. Olivia Beattie, Managing Editor at Biteback, has been a superb editor. Her constructive and thoughtful comments have made the book better than it might otherwise have been.


Writing books can get in the way of family time, particularly as much of this book was largely written on holiday! I would like to thank Jane, Joseph, Elizabeth, Fern and Megan for being patient with me. We still managed to visit the places we wanted to go to and do the things we wanted, albeit occasionally delayed. This book is dedicated to them as a thank you for letting me write it.



















INTRODUCTION







“When you’re not in that firestorm you just can’t appreciate how stressful it is.”


– Conservative MP
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‘Parliament’s darkest day’ blazed the headline on the front page of The Times on 15 April 2009. The scandal over MPs’ and peers’ expenses was raging at its fiercest, with fresh outrages by apparently greedy and grasping MPs being revealed on a daily basis on the front pages of the newspapers. It was, as the current Speaker of the House of Commons would later describe it, a case of ‘reputational carnage’ affecting the entire political class.


For once, the goings-on of MPs in Parliament were at the front and centre of public consciousness and conversations. The British public appeared united in its disgust and outrage that whilst they suffered amidst the fallout of the financial crisis of 2008 and the worst recession in living memory, their so-called political representatives had been caught helping themselves to second homes, expensive televisions and even duck houses, moats and pornographic films from the public purse. The impact of the scandal has seared itself into public memory; some four years later, a poll found that politicians were trusted less than journalists, estate agents, and even bankers.


Few, if any, MPs or candidates could escape the fallout from the expenses scandal. But the politicians whose cases were at the very centre of the scandal suddenly found their reputations and careers in ruins. For those charged on the front pages of the newspapers, there seemed to be no way of getting a fair hearing against the wave of public anger, hostility and cynicism, even when they had a reasonable explanation. And it wasn’t just their professional lives that were affected; it was their privacy and their families’ lives too. What had started as a scoop by one newspaper had turned into a runaway triumph for many, emboldening the entire media and turning its appetite for political scandal, and particularly anything expenses-related, into a frenzy. Journalists were looking into seemingly all aspects of MPs’ lives. Even the Parliamentary Standards Commissioner complained that he had Daily Mail photographers outside his house and felt under pressure. Whilst numerous MPs threw in the towel, a few buckled completely under the strain, with at least one suffering a mental collapse at the prospect of jail time and another attempting suicide.


The 2009 expenses scandal was, of course, not the beginning of political scandal and not the first political crisis in Britain. But nor has it marked the end of it. Despite a huge clear-out of MPs at the 2010 general election, their replacement with a younger generation, and solemn promises by the main party leaders to clean up politics, in the few years since the expenses scandal five senior members of the Cabinet have been forced to resign as a result of scandals, with one even going to jail. The political class as a whole was once again brought into disrepute when the close links between leading politicians and media barons were revealed during the scandal over phone hacking and similar unscrupulous behaviour by members of the press. And the usual stream of stories about MPs’ personal conduct and their private lives has continued, with political blogs and social media now providing another, less-controlled space in which rumours can gather momentum and the fires of potential scandals be fuelled.


QUESTIONS


In an age where public cynicism towards politicians in Britain now appears to be firmly entrenched, it would seem that any politician could find him or herself in the line of fire, almost at any time. And when a politician finds themselves on the front pages and towards the top of broadcast bulletins – in the eye of the storm, so to speak – they would appear to have the odds stacked against their political survival. The person at the centre of the storm would be forgiven for assuming that the public, if not their colleagues and the ‘Westminster village’, would presume them guilty until proven innocent. When journalists start picking up another’s ‘scoop’ and following it up, the odour of bad publicity starts to spread and it suggests that those ‘in the know’ believe there is more to come. If the media ‘pack’ starts to scent blood – and that an admission of guilt, a resignation or sacking may be in the offing – all hell can break loose for the politician at the centre of it.


Looking back at individual scandals or crises alongside each other prompts us to ask some interesting questions: just how do those politicians in the eye of the storm attempt to overcome the odds and emerge with their political careers and reputations intact? What strategies are used? Why do some succeed and some fail? And although most people in Britain would agree that vigorous press scrutiny of politicians is a good thing, what lessons could be learned and what mistakes should be avoided in the heat of the moment to stop otherwise worthwhile political careers being needlessly cut short? Given that there are so many scandals of varying degrees of seriousness in politics, is there a ‘standard operating manual’ or reserve of expertise on hand to support politicians in trouble, or do they find themselves isolated, forced to reinvent the wheel alone as the clamour grows for their downfall?


THE HUMAN SIDE OF POLITICAL SCANDALS


Alongside the strategic and tactical considerations, it must be remembered that periods of crisis and scandal form some of the most intense periods of political careers, and indeed the lives, of those at the centre of them. Whilst the attention of the media and the public often swiftly moves on, regardless of the outcome, the personal impacts can last for years. Indeed, the experience is often life-changing. It is at these times that the strongest friendships may be formed, consolidated or broken. Invariably, spouses, parents, children, neighbours and friends find themselves dragged in. Crises and scandals make for exciting and compelling stories with moments of high drama. But their impact on real, human lives can be devastating, and sometimes harrowing to recount, even years later.




 





This book is an attempt to tell the human story of what it was like, and to give readers a sense of what it is like, to be the person at the centre of a political scandal or crisis. It goes behind the face in the photograph and the name in the headlines. It tries to convey how things looked through the eyes of the person looking back at the bank of photographers and journalists outside their house, and into the eyes of colleagues, staff, frightened spouses and children. Likeable or loathsome as readers may find the book’s subjects, it reveals the inside story of what really goes on when political careers are, to all appearances, hanging by a thread.


The book is based upon a series of interviews with people in politics who, in recent years, have found themselves at the centre of a political storm. The focus is predominantly on the years since the 2010 general election and the formation of the coalition government, and the book covers many of the most significant scandals to have hit Cabinet ministers over the course of the coalition since its formation. But with the issue of expenses still looming so heavily over British politics (expenses still remains to this day a ‘third rail’ issue for political careers, as will be discussed later), the book also recollects on one of the most prominent cases of the MPs’ expenses scandal in 2009. For a broader perspective, the book will also look back on a scandal that emerged from the Blair– Brown in-fighting in the 2000s and the experiences of one Conservative Leader of the Opposition whose tenure seemed, from the outside, to be in a permanent state of crisis.


Each chapter tells the story from the perspective of the person at the centre of the storm. Although I have sought to paint a fair and accurate picture of what happened in each case, the chapters do not attempt to provide a completely objective assessment of the various scandals or to take accounts from everyone involved. At times of scandal and crisis in politics, the people at the centre often fail to get a fair hearing. When they do publish a full account from their viewpoint, it is often too late and the public and their peers have already made up their minds. By describing the events from beginning to end from the perspective of the person accused, this book seeks to redress the balance.


The presentation of each case may not be entirely neutral, but I hope readers will find that I have not been completely uncritical. I am not defending politicians as a ‘class’, nor did I set out to defend any of the subjects of the book. I have not tried to make a judgement on the rights and wrongs. With the opportunity to look back on events that often gathered momentum very quickly and amidst excited reporting and speculation, readers may wish to make their own reappraisal.


As will be clear by now, this book is not meant to be a definitive history of the scandals and crises of recent years in British politics. Nonetheless, I hope it will give a sense of the dynamics of political crises. It may inform thinking about how crises can be better handled: how political parties can support their own at times of trouble and how those in trouble can better help themselves, or at least avoid making unnecessary mistakes. What follows may also inform the ongoing debate about the activities of the press, and the relationship between the press and politicians.


Above all, my aim for this book is to provide readers with a better sense of the human beings that play out the game of politics. The approaches people take to political crises, how they view themselves and the situation they find themselves in, reveal a huge amount about the true character of politicians. It is a well-known truism that a person’s character is most clearly revealed when the chips are down. I hope this book will give readers a sense of the real character of their politicians, as revealed during times of greatest stress.


CHAPTER OVERVIEW


The book’s opening chapter tells the story of one of the most intense scandals to hit a member of the Conservative–Liberal Democrat coalition government, the aftershocks of which are still making the news as this book goes to print. In the space of little more than thirty days, Andrew Mitchell, the then newly-appointed Government Chief Whip charged with bringing discipline to the increasingly rebellious Conservative parliamentary party, was driven to personal despair and out of his job as the Government’s enemies used allegations that he had used class-based insults during an argument with a police officer to launch wave after wave of attacks against him and the Government. Mitchell, a powerful, if sometimes abrasive figure with friends throughout the British and international political elites, found himself quickly helpless against the onslaught as the media piled in.


To his shock, Mitchell found himself very much thrust into the eye of the storm. Even if most of the allegations made against him have subsequently been discredited, and he is now viewed sympathetically across the political spectrum as the victim of a dangerous conspiracy, for a month in the autumn of 2012 he was Public Enemy No. 1. His experiences provide a vivid account of life at the centre of a major scandal in the British politics of today.


But the ‘plebgate’ affair involving Andrew Mitchell was not the first scandal to hit the coalition government, nor was he the first Cabinet minister of that government to be forced to resign. Following the early departure of David Laws, Chapters 2 and 3 detail the events leading up to the departures of two other political heavyweights, from the Conservatives and Liberal Democrats respectively: Liam Fox and Chris Huhne.


Fox, a reforming Defence Secretary at a time when the country was engaged in a courageous but risky military intervention in Libya (on top of its ongoing engagement in Afghanistan), found himself engulfed by allegations after stories about the activities of his best friend were allowed to snowball, bringing Fox into disrepute. Not for the first time, the growing scandal was played out against the backdrop of rumours and innuendo of a gay relationship between two men in politics who happened to be close friends. This element appears to be a particular source of fascination in political and media circles, further whetting appetites for drama. Perhaps out of disdain for such gossip, we will see how Fox’s main problem was that he didn’t treat the accusations against him seriously enough until it was too late.


Chris Huhne’s fall from grace was far more protracted than either Fox’s or Mitchell’s, but the personal consequences were altogether far more drastic. Having sacrificed his marriage to stem the damaging publicity over an affair he was having, Huhne, as is well known, ended up in jail. In contrast to many of the other subjects of this book, Huhne was well aware of his guilt. What is fascinating about Huhne’s case was his extraordinary ability to detach himself from the personal and emotional impact of the crisis he found himself in and to use his formidable powers of reasoning to plot his way out. Even though he ended up losing his liberty as well as his political career, Huhne projected such self-confidence throughout his time in the line of fire that his ultimate capitulation came as a genuine shock to politicians throughout Westminster, the media and probably many of the public. Through the sheer force of willpower and apparently unbreakable self-esteem, Huhne almost got away with it.


Chapters 4 and 5 deal in depth with a scandal that grew to embroil the entire coalition government, leading to a public inquiry that saw the Prime Minister and three of his predecessors, the Deputy Prime Minister and Chancellor, and several other Cabinet ministers present and past, summoned to give evidence before a judge. In December 2010, the issue of News Corporation’s proposed takeover of the whole of BSkyB led to the biggest scandal to hit the coalition since the early resignation of David Laws over his expenses claims. Vince Cable, known to be a reluctant member of the Conservative–Lib Dem coalition, found himself at the very eye of the storm for several days after explosive comments he had made in a private conversation were published and broadcast in the media. Cable survived thanks to the strong banks of political capital he had built up both within his party and the public, but the episode threatened the new government’s reputation for competence and dominated the top of the news agenda for several days.


Cable, however, got off lightly compared to the man left to pick up the pieces from his gaffe, Jeremy Hunt. As Chapter 5 details, having risen quietly but spectacularly through the ranks following his election to Parliament just five years earlier, by 2012 Hunt found himself laid low by the most toxic issue in British politics, and written off as a ‘dead man walking’ by virtually the entire media. When evidence linking Hunt’s staff to apparent collusion with the business empire of Rupert Murdoch forced his closest aide to resign, most commentators assumed it was only a matter of time – and a short amount of time at that – before Hunt himself was forced to follow. Hunt’s survival, which appeared almost miraculous at the time, owed something to luck, as the Leveson Inquiry bought him time to make his case and to have the charges against him ruled on by an independent judge, rather than a show trial in the court of public opinion. But it also owed much to Hunt’s own determination to prove his innocence, and even more crucially, to the support he had in times of trouble from the Prime Minister and his party colleagues.


Chapters 6 and 7 look back at some of the crises and scandals in the latter years of the New Labour government. If Jeremy Hunt seemed to have virtually the entire media and the whole of the political Left seeking his demise over BSkyB, the fall of Charles Clarke as described in Chapter 6 shows how politicians can be weakened at times of crisis by enemies from their own side. Clarke, who as Home Secretary had played a leading role in Britain’s response to the worst-ever terror attack on the mainland, found himself caught up in the vicious civil war for control of the Labour Party between supporters of Tony Blair and Gordon Brown.


Clarke, a political veteran of the Kinnock era, ultimately ran out of time trying to fix the failings of the civil service machinery which had caused huge embarrassment for the New Labour government over the issue of foreign national prisoners. A target in the eyes of the Brownites, Clarke was forced to pay the price when the issue became a focal point of a dire local elections campaign that led Blair to fear that his hitherto impregnable grip on the premiership was starting to slip away. Clarke’s case illustrates not just the perils of holding a portfolio as vast as that of Home Secretary, but also the need for politicians not to take for granted the support of their own side should they find themselves in trouble.


Chapters 7 and 8 look back at one of the greatest scandals of any era in British politics – the scandal over MPs’ expense claims. One of the most apparently notorious cases of the scandal, and one of its biggest ‘losers’ was Jacqui Smith, Britain’s first ever female Home Secretary. Smith, a tough former Government Chief Whip, went from dealing with terrorist attacks and fierce political battles to the excruciatingly embarrassing task of trying to explain why she had claimed for reimbursement from the taxpayer for a pornographic movie watched by her husband. Smith then suffered the double indignity of being subject to a lengthy investigation, and ultimately being found guilty, for improper use of the second home allowance – a charge she strenuously denies to this day. In the space of a few months, Smith found her reputation and high-flying career in ruins and the health of her family life at risk under the glare of publicity and deep public anger.


It is not only senior politicians and Cabinet ministers who find themselves embroiled in scandals. Many of the politicians who hit the headlines during the expenses scandal were ordinary backbenchers without big staffs to support them or their party leaderships riding to the rescue. Whether such people sink or swim as they find their homes surrounded by photographers, face journalists raking over every aspect of their lives, with local and national opponents on the hunt, owes much to their own actions and character – and how their families are able to cope. The case of Stewart Jackson vividly illustrates what life can be like for backbenchers when trouble hits.


The expenses issue is not over, as former Culture Secretary Maria Miller found out to her cost. MPs live in the knowledge that they are treading on thin ice when it comes to their expense claims. Even claims that are within the rules and are approved by the new Independent Parliamentary Standards Authority can end up being hugely damaging to the reputation and career of the MP in question if they are spun a certain way. Nadhim Zahawi, rising star of the 2010 intake of Conservative MPs, found this out to his cost when a blunder that had escaped his attention shot him into prominence and onto the pages of the tabloids for all the wrong reasons.


If Chapters 1 to 8 have investigated high intensity periods of crisis of a relatively short duration, Chapter 9 takes a slightly different approach. Rather than focusing on a specific point of crisis, the chapter explores how low-level but long-term exposure to seemingly relentless negative criticism, pressure and hostility from the media and political opponents (and sometimes so-called colleagues) can affect the outlook, and even the psyche of the person at the centre of it. It does so by looking at one of the most unforgiving jobs in


British politics: Leader of the Opposition. Being Leader of the Opposition is a brutal slog at the best of times. But for William Hague, then a relatively unknown 36-year-old, taking on the job as leader of a party that had been in Government for eighteen years, had no recent experience of opposition, was divided, exhausted and dejected by its shattering defeat at the 1997 general election and facing the ruthless New Labour political machine headed by a hugely popular and charismatic Prime Minister in Tony Blair, was to prove particularly gruelling. Hague describes his four-year ordeal in the job as the ‘night shift’. Although Hague prides himself on his rationality and lack of emotion, the chapter explores how far the constant stream of criticism, mockery, challenges to his authority and ultimately the crushing personal rejection, got under Hague’s skin and changed him as a person.


The concluding chapter will seek to identify the lessons that can be learned from the tales of scandals and crises in the book. The emphasis will be less on avoiding crises and scandals from happening in the first place – in an age of ever-declining deference and new spaces on the internet and social media for allegations and rumours to take root, they are likely to remain a permanent feature of our politics. Instead, I look at questions such as: what is the best way to handle a crisis? What are the key decisions to be taken and when?


The concluding chapter will also reflect on what the factors were that allowed Jeremy Hunt to survive despite finding himself in the crosshairs of almost the entire media, with an opposition baying for political blood and an angry public enraged at yet another abuse of power and looking for someone to blame. It will also analyse what allowed Chris Huhne to survive for as long as he did, comparing it to the responses that saw Andrew Mitchell driven out of office and nearly into a personal meltdown over what he might or might not have said to a policeman in a brief disagreement of which there is no reliable record.



















CHAPTER 1


ANDREW MITCHELL’S HEARTBREAK







“My first aim was to get back my life, then to get back my reputation and third to get back my job. But the job was very much third – by a long way. There was a point where I wasn’t sure if I did [want it back]. Indeed, there was a point where I was going to emigrate. We were going to go. Not only was I going to leave Parliament and cause a by-election, we were going to leave the country.”


– Andrew Mitchell MP
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On 19 October 2012, after twenty-eight days of being at the centre of public attention and an incessant bombardment by the media over the ‘plebgate’ (or ‘gategate’) affair, Andrew Mitchell resigned from his position as Government Chief Whip. Mitchell was mentally and physically drained after being, as he describes it, ‘hunted like a wild animal’. He was by now being told by some political friends at No. 10, to ‘lie low, ride things out and let it blow away – then you can come back’. The same had been said at the start of his crisis.


His personal friends had wanted him to fight back against the allegations and torrent of hostile press stories, telling him that to lie low was a mistake and that he would be ‘stitched up like a kipper’. Mitchell basically accepted the advice of his political friends, but in truth his ability to make any rational decision was limited. His judgement had deserted him due to the emotional and physical impact of events. Mitchell felt sapped of energy, so that even the smallest movement took too much effort. He needed somebody to take charge, to tell him, ‘No, this is the strategy and this is what you need to do.’


Had Mitchell accepted the advice from No. 10 to lie low, he believes it would have killed him. For the twenty-eight days at the centre of the storm he had not been able to eat and had barely slept; he had taken to chain-smoking small cigars. He couldn’t get out of bed and would sit with his mobile phone and BlackBerry lined up on the duvet, just sitting there for hours. When he did manage to sleep he woke up with the most terrible foreboding and feeling of injustice – that he had been not only wronged, but conspired against. Having found himself at the centre of a political scandal, Mitchell plunged into a sort of depression. ‘Plebgate’ had changed his life: it had altered fundamentally the way people perceived him, ruined his reputation and seemingly destroyed his career.


At its peak, Mitchell’s family believed he was withering away – suffering from the symptoms of what some might describe as a broken heart. ‘I wouldn’t have tried to kill myself or anything like that, but if nothing had changed it would have killed me.’ Without a fight-back, an attempt to clear his name and regain his reputation, he might simply have faded away.
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On 4 September 2012, Andrew Mitchell was moved from Secretary of State for International Development to Government Chief Whip as part of David Cameron’s first major Cabinet reshuffle. There had been widespread unrest on the Conservative Party back benches, with a number of significant rebellions, and the Whips’ Office was largely blamed.


George Osborne was among those who felt a change was required. Someone was needed to get a grip of the parliamentary party, someone with experience, charm and a hint, or perhaps more than a hint, of menace. Mitchell was felt to have these attributes in the right combination, so Osborne, William Hague, the Prime Minister and Ed Llewellyn set about convincing Mitchell that he was the right man for the job.


At one level, Mitchell didn’t need much convincing. He’d already played a key part in the Whips’ Office under the premiership of John Major. The MPs in the Whips’ Office of that era formed a very close bond in the most difficult of circumstances. Mitchell, working late into the night with colleagues to keep the beleaguered government afloat, spent more time with them than with his wife and family. Friendships were made during that extraordinary time (when the government was winning by one or two votes late into the night) that became unbreakable. In particular, Mitchell formed a very close friendship with David Davis, later a leadership rival to, and no friend of, David Cameron.


But the Whips’ Office had changed enormously over the intervening decades and Mitchell had his doubts as to whether he was the right man. In particular, he was concerned that over half the parliamentary party had been newly elected in 2010 and its ethos perhaps didn’t quite have the same reserves of loyalty as in bygone eras. Worse still, he felt he had spent much of his time as Secretary of State for International Development travelling to far-flung parts of the world and felt he didn’t know a large chunk of the new MPs, even though numerous Conservative MPs and candidates had attended the ‘social action’ projects Mitchell and his team had organised in Rwanda and Sierra Leone.


However, he ultimately agreed to the appointment on one condition: it was to be his Whips’ Office, with the people he wanted. The appointment of his old colleague from the Major government Whips’ Office, Greg Knight, and his Parliamentary Private Secretary, Mark Lancaster, demonstrated that he had got his way: these were his own people. There was a substantial clear-out of those who were deemed to have performed poorly or whom Mitchell thought were better suited elsewhere.


However, this changing of the guard left huge bitterness and resentment among those who were sacked – which would return in due course to haunt Mitchell. Whips are well known for their ability to move quietly in the shadows and to strike when an opponent is at their weakest. Even before ‘plebgate’, Mitchell had made enemies who wished him ill and were keenly waiting for when the time was right. In these circumstances, his position as Chief Whip was slightly precarious from the start.


The origins of the ‘plebgate’ story in fact go back over two years before the fateful, and still fiercely disputed, incident by the front gates of Downing Street on 19 September 2012. Shortly after Mitchell became a Cabinet minister in May 2010 he had an encounter with the police, although this time at the back entrance to Downing Street. Mitchell asked the police on the back gate to open it and let him through on his bicycle but they refused. He explained he was a Cabinet minister, showed his pass and told them that he was keeping the Prime Minister waiting for a meeting. It made no difference: he was sent around to the front gate, much to his annoyance, and was late for a meeting in the Cabinet Room.


Mitchell reported the incident to the Head of Security at Downing Street. There appeared to be no hard feelings from the police officers at the time, but the incidents between the police and Mitchell, and indeed other Cabinet ministers trying to access Downing Street, did not end there. Around a year later, on 7 June 2011, the Head of Downing Street Security, John Groves, felt compelled to write a letter of formal complaint to Inspector Ken Russell, the Metropolitan Police inspector in charge of safeguarding Downing Street, ‘about the conduct of your Officers who manage access into the rear of Downing Street at D11’.


In his letter, Groves stated that:




Over the last few months there have been a handful of incidents where Cabinet Ministers (including Andrew Mitchell, Secretary of State for International Development) have either not been allowed access through the L Shape Road or have not been recognised/identified within a reasonable time period … This morning, there were two further incidences where DPG officers refused access to a Cabinet Minister who was here to attend Cabinet. In one incident, Andrew Mitchell was, again, stopped from entering the L Shape road on his bicycle. According to this Cabinet Minister, the Police Officer XXXXXXX said that he did recognise who he [Andrew Mitchell] was but would not let him. No clear reason was given.





Groves went on to say that he could ‘not see any just reason why access was refused’ and that, as far as he was concerned, members of the Cabinet were entitled to unfettered access to Downing Street at any time of day or night and at any entry point. Police officers had an obligation, he said, to ensure that ministers’ access was facilitated as quickly and smoothly as possible, ‘not least because they are here to see the Prime Minister’.


Around 7.30 p.m. on 19 September 2012, Mitchell left his office at 9 Downing Street to head to a meeting at the Carlton Club where he was due to speak. He cycled down Downing Street towards the front gates. Mitchell had endured a difficult day dealing with colleagues who had been sacked or not promoted and was feeling tired and emotionally drained. He was running late and probably a bit short-tempered.


Mitchell had been through the front gates of Downing Street several times before that week, but not always without difficulty. He was after all Chief Whip, with an office at No. 9 and one of the three senior ministers who worked in Downing Street, and had gone in and out of the gates either in his car or on his bicycle reasonably frequently. If a car was coming along the street the police would open the gates and, seeing Mitchell riding down Downing Street, would let him pass through at the same time. Sometimes they would simply open the gates for him. On other occasions, the officers would make Mitchell ask for the gates to be opened. Admittedly, the gates are heavy and difficult to open, particularly for any officers who are neither as young nor as fit as they might once have been. Some of the officers resented Mitchell’s requests when he could easily have gone through the side gate, whilst others suggested it was an unnecessary security risk. Mitchell was felt by some of the police to be unnecessarily demanding, which perhaps explains how he became embroiled in the saga in the first place.


Indeed a leaked police memo to The Times (the sister newspaper of The Sun, which Mitchell subsequently sued for libel) shows that Downing Street police asked for advice over Mitchell’s repeated demands to open the main gates after an incident on 18 September. Apparently timed and dated 00.48 September 19, 2012, according to The Times, the memo’s author asked for guidance from a more senior officer, stating;




[Mitchell] keeps requesting to leave Downing Street via the main vehicle gates. [He was] adamant he WAS GOING THROUGH THOSE GATES. As it was quite late and quiet at this point and in order not to create embarrassment to himself or the DPG [Diplomatic Protection Group] he was allowed on this occasion to leave via one of the main gates.





The email appeared to request backing for officers rather than a discussion about how to handle any further incidents – as if a confrontation was required to end the Chief Whip’s ongoing requests once and for all. The opening of the gates was, with little doubt, a source of underlying friction between Mitchell and the police officers that had now been running for well over two years. In most circumstances it would have remained merely a source of mutual irritation – although the email of the night before had probably raised the stakes and sown the seeds for a showdown. So what really made this molehill into a mountain?


On the evening of 19 September, the police made Mitchell ask for the second day running that the front gates be opened. What happened next is hotly contested. Where there is agreement is that Mitchell asked a number of times for the gates to be opened and the police, quite probably with the previous day in mind and wishing to make a point, refused on each occasion. Mitchell was forced to dismount and walk his bicycle round the short distance to the pedestrian side gate. The officer who escorted him, PC Toby Rowland, alleged in a written note of the incident, a version of which was apparently leaked and later described in the media as a ‘police log’, that, as they walked to the side gate, with ‘several members of the public present as is the norm opposite the pedestrian gate’, Mitchell raged at him, ‘Best you learn your fucking place … you don’t run this fucking government … You’re fucking plebs.’


PC Rowland wrote in his note that he could not say if Mitchell’s alleged outburst was aimed at him individually, ‘… or the police present or the police service as a whole’, a rather odd speculation for what was supposed to be a note of the bare facts. The ‘log’ records that ‘the members of the public looked visibly shocked and I was somewhat taken aback by the language used and the view expressed by a senior government official’.


CCTV footage of the pavement outside Downing Street as Mitchell exited the side gate, which was broadcast by Channel 4’s Dispatches programme in December 2012, appeared to show that there were in fact no members of the public in front of the gates and only one person walking past. However, the Director of Public Prosecutions would later adjudicate that ‘previously unseen and unedited footage of the incident from five different cameras’ showed that there were a small number of members of the public present immediately in front of the gate at the relevant time and others immediately off camera but in the vicinity, consistent with the officer’s account that several members of the public were present. This evidence, to which the DPP referred in her decision not to charge Rowland and other officers with misconduct in public office or criminal conspiracy, remains hidden from public view at the time of this book’s publication.


Mitchell has always denied calling the police officer a ‘pleb’ or a ‘moron’ or using any of the other pejorative descriptions attributed to him in the ‘log’ or in later press articles. He admits that he said, ‘I thought you guys were supposed to fucking help us.’ Mitchell says he muttered this not directly at the policeman, although it was loud enough for the policeman to respond, ‘If you swear at me I will arrest you.’ According to PC Rowland’s account, he warned Mitchell not to swear at him, and warned him that if he continued swearing, Rowland would have no option but to arrest him under the Public Order Act. Mitchell then fell silent and left, saying, ‘you haven’t heard the last of this’ as he cycled off. Mitchell himself claims to have used slightly less threatening language, saying he would take the matter up the following day, although he cannot remember the precise words he used.


That should have been the end of an unfortunate, impulsive but fairly trivial incident, the sort of thing that happens from time to time in daily life. People get annoyed and irritated with each other for many reasons and let off a bit of steam. Swearing in the presence of a police officer, as Mitchell would acknowledge, is wrong and, particularly in the case of a senior government minister, sets a poor example. Mitchell could have behaved differently and probably better (and to be fair to him he did quickly apologise), but nothing he did or said was in proportion to what followed.


Whilst Mitchell was speaking about international development at the Carlton Club he was oblivious to what was coming next, thinking nothing further of the evening’s events. Little did he know that, once the events were discovered, it would provide many people with the chance to take advantage, to both his and the government’s great discomfort.


The following afternoon, Mitchell was collecting pictures from the government art archives for his new office. Ed Llewellyn, the Prime Minister’s long-serving chief of staff, called at around 2 p.m., opening with the line, ‘Houston, we have a problem.’ The Sun had been given the story about the altercation with the police, and Mitchell was needed to agree a response with the press team. Mitchell still didn’t believe it was a big story, but Llewellyn was quick to put him right and ask him if he’d lost his temper, or called the police ‘plebs’ and ‘morons’. A horrified Mitchell immediately denied it, only to be told that The Sun believed he had said that, and more, and was planning to run it on the front page.


Together with Cameron’s core advisers at No. 10, Mitchell quickly realised the problem. Who was going to believe the word of a Cabinet minister before the word of police officers? Whether or not the Prime Minister and his colleagues believed Mitchell was hardly the point. The public, pushed on by a popular tabloid, would not. Despite its support for the Conservatives at the general election, The Sun was feeling distinctly chilly towards the PM and Downing Street. A host of things had gone wrong for the government, and the Leveson Inquiry was sapping any remaining News International goodwill.


At the time the allegations against Mitchell surfaced, David Cameron’s government was already facing criticism over the wealthy and elite backgrounds, and possibly the outlooks, of many of its members. Labour’s attacks on a government perceived to be a ‘chumocracy’ dominated by posh boys and alumni of the Bullingdon Club who didn’t know how the other half lived were all hitting home. Even fellow Tories, such as Nadine Dorries, joined in with barbs about Cameron and Osborne ‘not knowing the price of milk’. It was a devastating cocktail that The Sun believed fed into a distinctly believable narrative of a posh Cabinet minister calling one of ‘our boys in blue’ a pleb. It was one of the worst possible public relations nightmares No. 10 could have imagined.


Worse still, two young female police officers, Nicola Hughes and Fiona Bone, had been shot and murdered in Manchester by a notorious gangster only the day before. It was the first time in Britain that two female officers had been killed on duty. The tragedy provided a reminder to the public of the dangerous and difficult work that police officers do. It also meant that, politically, any criticism of the police or suggestion that officers in Downing Street were lying would be dangerous, if not unthinkable in that context. To make any such accusation would have been political suicide.


Mitchell attended meetings that afternoon with Llewellyn, Craig Oliver, the Downing Street Communications Director, and others to work out the line to take. He then met Cameron and Osborne at 4 p.m. He told all of his innocence, asserting that he did not use words like ‘pleb’ or ‘moron’. By now he was feeling quite shell-shocked. He could not understand why someone would invent such smears. With the pressure on, his good character under question, and a high-flying thirty-year political career suddenly in doubt, his ability over the next few days and weeks to make rational judgements quickly became shaky.


No. 10, however, was making rational judgements – but they were ones that suited the government and not necessarily Andrew Mitchell. It was at this point that Mitchell needed the strong support and strategic help of his close political and personal friend David Davis. Unfortunately, Davis was away in the USA having one of his many daredevil adventures, this time involving flying light aircraft, and could not be reached.


Mitchell was packed off to the duty sergeant to say he was sorry if he had caused a fuss and that he was willing to apologise to the officer. Mitchell cancelled all his Friday engagements, which included speaking engagements in support of fellow Conservative MPs, and rang PC Rowland to apologise personally for using bad language. Rowland was polite and joked that Mitchell ‘was the first member of the public in twenty years to apologise’. So far, Mitchell and Downing Street’s attempt to lower the temperature appeared to be succeeding.


The strategy from then on, set out by Craig Oliver and agreed to with some reservations by Mitchell, was to lie low and ride out the storm. Mitchell claims to have had his doubts about it from the start, but, shaken by events and with key allies unavailable, wasn’t sure what to do – whether to be a team player or to protect ferociously his own reputation. Everybody in Downing Street was suggesting that the storm would all blow over within a few days. Mitchell therefore packed himself off to his home in Nottinghamshire, where his daughter was about to have her twenty-first birthday party.


Whilst he was there, an email was sent to John Randall MP, his Deputy Chief Whip, from one of Randall’s Ruislip constituents, a Mr Keith Wallis, which provided what appeared to be a detailed eyewitness account of the confrontation in Downing Street. Wallis claimed to be a member of the public who had watched events unfold and was disgusted at what he had seen. His account supported The Sun’s planned story in pretty much every detail. Complaining about Mitchell’s ‘yobbish’ and ‘totally unacceptable’ behaviour, Wallis claimed in his email that Mitchell had shouted ‘very loudly’ at the police officers guarding Downing Street, calling them ‘you fucking plebes’ [sic] and telling them ‘you think you run the fucking country’, before continuing to shout obscenities at them.


We now know that Wallis, then aged fifty-two, was a serving police officer and member of the Diplomatic Protection Group that guards Downing Street, but at the time it was devastating to Mitchell’s case and the account he’d given to No. 10 and the Prime Minister. His story appeared compelling and believable, and provided what appeared to be independent corroboration of the core allegations against Mitchell. The email seemingly banged Mitchell to rights – an open-and-shut case.


As the headlines began to swirl around Mitchell from around midnight on the Thursday and continuing into Friday morning, he and his family tried to close themselves off in their Nottinghamshire home. By then there were twenty journalists and photographers outside the house in London, ten outside his constituency home in Sutton Coldfield and eight camped outside in Nottinghamshire. At least thirty-eight people were simultaneously hunting the Mitchells. Over the coming days, their children were followed by the press. More hacks were dispatched to Mitchell’s aged mother-in-law in Swansea, whilst his 84-year-old father was also pursued for comment. Neighbours were sought out and, whilst most refused to comment or spoke up for the family, one in London laid in to the entire Mitchell family. Meanwhile, his office had received about 1,000 hostile emails. He felt under siege. He would later even be spat at in the street.


With all this going on, Mitchell and his wife had to put their personal feelings to one side and get ready for their younger daughter Rosie’s twenty-first birthday party. They were in a house they loved; they had found it as a wreck years earlier and had rebuilt it, pouring their heart and soul into it. That weekend, they moved to the back of the house, put up blackout curtains and kept away from the front of the house. No one could get a picture from across the fields.


But despite the secure and familiar location, Mitchell says he learned an important lesson about the ability to take refuge when at the centre of a political or media storm. ‘Sanctuary is not about location,’ he recalls, ‘it’s about a state of mind. When the shit hit the fan there was no sanctuary there. Although it was a physical barrier and they couldn’t see us or photograph us, I found no peace at all.’


Mitchell believed that not only were the charges being laid against him false, but he couldn’t be at all sure where they were coming from, who was behind it or, most importantly, what was coming next. It was bewildering, yet he was told to keep a low profile in the advice from No. 10. It is interesting to contrast his response to the potentially career-threatening allegations hanging over him with that taken by others who have found themselves in the eye of the storm.


To take one example from the cases covered in this book, Chris Huhne took almost the opposite approach to Mitchell in dealing with his own trials and tribulations. He never once backed away from the media or the limelight – on occasions, quite the opposite. At the time, he made people in the Westminster Village believe that he could not possibly be guilty of the offence he was charged with and later found guilty of. Indeed he was insistent about his innocence and that he would not be going to prison right up to the point where he was forced to admit his guilt on the court steps on the day of his trial. Would a more brazen response from Mitchell have helped him turn the tide or ride it out? Perhaps Huhne’s full knowledge of his own guilt made it easier for him to make a clear-sighted and rational calculation of the likely outcomes and options available to him, enabling him to take a more certain and combative approach.


Mitchell tried to focus on his daughter’s birthday celebrations, but found it difficult to do anything because of the limitations of making absolutely sure he could not be seen or photographed celebrating. Even within the walls of his own home, it made him pretty useless. Fortunately, the Mitchells had created a big bonfire at the back of the house where they couldn’t be seen and he was able to have dinner inside and make a speech about his daughter before celebrating outside. But in reality his mind was elsewhere for much of the time as he was waiting for the next blow to land. ‘You absorb what happened that day, but you know more stuff is about to be published the next day because it starts to filter out the evening before,’ he remembers.


The full horror of everything that was going on around Mitchell finally hit him with full force on the evening of the Sunday that followed. Over the weekend he had been persuaded by Craig Oliver to do an apologetic doorstep interview for Joey Jones of Sky News early on Monday morning. Henry Macrory, the experienced head of press at CCHQ until a few months earlier, advised him it was a bad idea. Mitchell had brought Macrory on board straight away to help him manage the media storm. It was a good early decision, but Mitchell didn’t always take his advice.


Instead, Mitchell decided to be a team player, letting No. 10 make the important moves – something his daughter Hannah certainly regrets, as she blames press officers at No. 10 for persuading her father to avoid conflict with the police and to refrain from telling his side of the story. Only once he had resigned and was no longer a member of the team did he feel able to go against Downing Street’s advice. Following instructions, he left Nottinghamshire at 3.30 a.m. on the Monday morning, driven to London by Hannah, who had only recently qualified as a doctor. They got to London earlier than expected and so laid up in the car in Notting Hill, refuelling on hot chocolate whilst waiting for the appointed hour.


Mitchell believed that as it was the first day of the Liberal Democrats’ party conference he would be knocked off the news headlines. To his horror, he found his forthcoming live statement was topping the 8 a.m. news. The statement was already giving legs to the story, even before he had actually given it. Oliver’s instructions were to apologise and to grovel in the hope that contrition would kill the story off.


It backfired spectacularly. The apology was neither fish nor fowl. Having received contrary advice from George Osborne, No. 10 press aide Alan Sendorek and others, Mitchell, with impaired judgement, was left not completely convinced about the line to take. And as Mitchell himself admits: ‘I just can’t grovel, I just don’t do it well. It’s a fault in my personality.’ Nor, in his heart of hearts, did he want to apologise at all. What he really wanted to do was go on the attack and accuse ‘these people’ of lying and using terrible slurs to end his career of thirty years and toxify the Conservative Party.


The mass of advice, his lack of judgement and a feeling that his heart wasn’t in it all conspired against his and Downing Street’s attempt to put the issue to bed. Instead of drawing a line under the issue, the statement gave it new life. Mitchell knew almost immediately it hadn’t gone well. Having done the live statement, he went to the Cabinet Office. As he entered, his phone rang. At the other end of the line, the political blogger Iain Dale, an old friend of Mitchell’s, opened with the words, ‘Who the fuck told you to do that?’ According to his daughter Hannah, Mitchell was given the ‘watered-down’ statement by No. 10 and their words led to Mitchell being pilloried by the press.


Dale had spotted immediately that it was a disaster, and told him so. By now, two statements by Mitchell, one written and one in person, had failed to cap the problem. Joey Jones, to whom Mitchell had given the interview, spent the rest of Monday outside Whitehall, doing live reports at the head of Sky News’ rolling news bulletins. Mitchell went to the Whips’ Office to try to work, but found it very difficult to concentrate as the threat to his career mounted.


Meanwhile, his deputy as Chief Whip, John Randall MP, had taken his constituent Keith Wallis’s email to No. 10. The email was deadly for a number of reasons. First, it appeared to provide corroboration of the police’s version of events from a member of the public who had witnessed the incident first-hand. Second, it was sent to the Deputy Chief Whip by his constituent, whom he was duty-bound to represent. Third, it destabilised a key relationship between the Chief Whip and his deputy. But, crucially, it also undermined the belief that No. 10 had in Mitchell. Key people, including Jeremy Heywood, the Cabinet Secretary, and Craig Oliver, were not convinced by Mitchell’s denials.


To make things worse, Mitchell’s wife called during the day saying he couldn’t go home because the media had surrounded their house in Gibson Square, in the affluent district of Islington in north London. The Mitchell family decided that home for the next few days would be with Mitchell’s friend Duncan Budge and his wife and children in Kentish Town. This would mean returning home to Islington in the early hours (as the media left each night between 1 a.m. before returning at around 6 a.m.) to fetch and carry clothes and other necessary personal items. It was far from ideal with everything else going on.


In a phone call late on Monday, John Randall told Mitchell, albeit guardedly, about the Wallis email. Randall read the email to Mitchell, telling him Wallis was a plausible witness; Randall had met with Wallis and had reported this directly to No. 10. The information hit Mitchell particularly hard, after what had already been an awful day of intense scrutiny and pressure. He was beside himself by the end of the phone call with Randall. ‘I’ve been stitched up’ he said as he hung up the phone, with his family looking on. He was unable to comprehend what was happening to him. His reputation was somehow being stripped away piece by piece.


His daughter, Hannah, remembers sitting in a chair shaking as the full implications of the Wallis letter sank into the Mitchells. She was certain nobody now would believe them, whatever they said. To her, what was happening was the product of a conspiracy against her father. In Mitchell’s own eyes, he had spent the past eight years speaking up for the poorest and most destitute people in the world. People who had known him, admired his work and believed in him would now see him as someone who used vile language and behaved in an arrogant and reprehensible manner. He found it hard to bear.


That Monday night seemed particularly bleak. He felt something terrible was happening to him, a stitch-up that there seemed no way out of – his credibility was being eroded as the evidence against him stacked up. By the Tuesday, Mitchell was in such internal distress that he no longer trusted his own judgement. As he says himself, ‘I was caught between the pincers of the press and the police as if Leveson had never taken place. There was nothing I could do. Nobody believed me when I said it wasn’t true.’


In his desperation he rang his close friends. Duncan Budge told him to be positive, that the email from Wallis would be his liberation. The Wallis email would quickly be exposed as a fake, Budge reasoned, and the truth would then come out. Mitchell didn’t believe him. The forces at work against him, whoever they were, appeared both controlled and powerful. He finally managed to get hold of David Davis, still in Florida, who knew nothing of what was going on and decided to stay up all night familiarising himself with what had happened.


Mitchell also called his close friend Charlie Falconer, the former Labour Lord Chancellor, who was in Australia. His message to both friends on the phone was the same: an email had arrived claiming to have witnessed something that had never happened; he was being stitched up. He did not know how it was being done, or where it was coming from but the nightmare was happening. What was he to do? Mitchell says in retrospect, ‘I think they both thought I was going mad.’


As he made the frantic, highly charged calls to his friends, his family were with him and becoming very worried. Mitchell says:




It is very difficult for me to find the words to describe how awful that night was. It was truly Kafkaesque. I was being systematically destroyed and I know it was not true but it had the apparent acquiescence of a senior whip, people in Downing Street and the media. I was on my knees with everything exploding around me. I can’t really find a way to describe the awfulness of it.





Matters did not improve the following morning as the headlines kept coming. As Mitchell was cleaning his teeth, the Prime Minister called suggesting the evidence from Randall’s constituent was compelling and it looked a fairly open-and-shut case. Mitchell always called Cameron ‘Prime Minister’, but now he dropped the formality: ‘David, how will you feel in a few weeks’ or months’ time when it is shown that this is a lie?’ It was a turning point in the conversation. Cameron agreed that Jeremy Heywood, the Cabinet Secretary, should look into it and conduct a short investigation. Heywood was to look at whether the email was sufficient evidence for Mitchell to be sacked.


Within days the Cabinet Secretary had reported back, briefing the Prime Minister that the email (from Wallis) ‘did not provide conclusive or reliable evidence’ and there was no reason for the Prime Minister to change his view that the Chief Whip should not be sacked. Mitchell’s supporters still regard Heywood’s response as woefully inadequate: what he found, they say, should have been cause for him having sleepless nights. Heywood had access to the CCTV footage held by Downing Street and the Foreign Office against which to review the claims and factual details in Wallis’ email. He also interviewed Andrew Mitchell as part of the investigation, but Wallis refused to speak to either Heywood or his staff, allegedly on the grounds that his emails were ‘private communications to his local MP and had not been intended for wider dissemination.’ This itself might have led Heywood to suspect that something wasn’t right, as might the CCTV which appeared to contradict parts of the police account and that of John Randall’s ‘constituent’, in particular the observation both in the police account and the email from the supposed member of the public that the incident was witnessed by ‘several’ members of the public and tourists standing by the gates of Downing Street, and whether Mitchell’s body language as recorded on CCTV reflected Wallis’ (although not the police’s) allegation that Mitchell had been shouting ‘very loudly’ and continued to shout obscenities at the officers. Others who saw the same footage as Heywood told him of their concerns.


Mitchell’s supporters have since concluded that Heywood didn’t want to make waves in spite of his discoveries. In their view, he could have acted early on to defuse the situation for Mitchell but seemingly chose for reasons unknown not to do so – perhaps sticking to the agreed Downing Street plan to let it all blow over. Heywood has defended his position, arguing that the remit of the review was very limited and that he could only do what he had been asked. Yet having noted that, as he himself said later when addressing the Public Administration Select Committee, there were ‘unanswered questions, including the possibility of a gigantic conspiracy or a small conspiracy’. There is a strong sense among Mitchell’s friends that he didn’t begin to fulfil his moral obligation to try to get to the bottom of it. As one later said, ‘Heywood had a duty to trust and to justice as Cabinet Secretary and he didn’t fulfil that duty.’ But the prevailing view from Downing Street was that No. 10 wanted this all to go away and the best way to achieve that was to say and do as little as possible. Mitchell’s wife now felt it was time to view the CCTV footage of the episode, but Mitchell himself still didn’t want to push No. 10 too hard at a sensitive time – after all, he needed the Prime Minister’s ongoing support if he was to save his job.


Mitchell’s attempts to lie low and let the story die away were in vain. In the following weeks, stories about him appeared on a daily basis, in what could only be described as open season. Ingenious links going back years were made; some were pure fantasy. One newspaper wrote a story about how Mitchell had ‘luxuriated in the splendour of the Serena Hotel [in Kigali, the capital city of Rwanda, which Mitchell had visited regularly in opposition] surrounded by prostitutes’. Mitchell had never stayed at the Serena Hotel and the only time he’d ever been there was to meet British journalists staying there when David Cameron visited Rwanda.


Alastair Campbell’s supposed nine-day deadline about how long someone could remain in the headlines before being finished came and went. However, after many days’ constant media pounding, Mitchell, having taken all the bile and invective to heart, was struggling to function, as lack of sleep, stress and little or no food took their effect on his mental and physical state.


Mitchell is now fairly forgiving of the wider press, with one exception – The Sun. He believes the paper went too far and it became a personal campaign of hatred and vilification rather than journalism. The Sun argues simply that it had a great story that landed in its lap. What was it supposed to do? Some senior journalists on the newspaper, whilst standing by the original story, admit privately that it probably went a bit too far in targeting Mitchell, based on information fed by the Police Federation. Whatever the rights and wrongs, The Sun was unrelenting, piling up the pressure on Mitchell day after day and week after week.


From early on the Police Federation publicly joined in the sport with glee. In March 2012 it had failed to secure enough votes from its membership to go on strike for the first time ever in opposition to government policy. The organisation had and still has a militant element that was determined to cause trouble for the government and ‘plebgate’ was an opportunity not to be missed. Supported by a Midlands PR agency, there were some members who were apparently prepared to push things well beyond what was truthful to make things worse for the government – whether it was in the email to Deputy Chief Whip John Randall or directly to the television cameras.


Things were so bad for Mitchell that attending the Conservative Party conference became impossible. Had he gone, there would have been a huge scrum wherever he went. His presence would no doubt have distracted from important speeches and policy announcements. However, the Police Federation tried all manner of stunts to keep the story going, including wearing cufflinks emblazoned with the words ‘Toffs’ and ‘Plebs’. Class was back at the centre of British politics and the Police Federation had placed itself right at its heart, cheered on and supported by a newly dubbed ‘One Nation’ Labour Party.


Mitchell had been asked quite early on in the crisis for a meeting by Ian Edwards, Chairman of the West Midlands Police Federation. As Edwards was responsible for the area covering Sutton Coldfield, Mitchell’s parliamentary constituency, Mitchell could hardly decline, and Edwards had seemed genuine in a phone conversation, apparently commiserating with Mitchell and wanting to clear the air and look to the future. Mitchell agreed on the basis that it would be constructive and was part of his work as a Midlands MP. He also specifically agreed with Edwards that the location of the meeting would not be disclosed.


The date, time and location were all immediately leaked and the Police Federation set about attracting the maximum amount of media interest. Mitchell considered postponing, but decided that it would look like cowardice. The meeting was scheduled for 5 p.m. on Friday 12 October in Mitchell’s Sutton Coldfield office. It provided the occasion for another media scrum, with nine camera crews and a host of national media, and the story was elevated to the top of the news above the Jimmy Savile scandal.


Police Federation representatives turned up early to brief the press. The representatives told the waiting media they would be demanding answers and if they didn’t get them Mitchell must be sacked. Mitchell gave them exactly what they wanted in a 45-minute meeting, explaining what had happened at the gates of Downing Street and precisely what had been said. The meeting ended abruptly at 5.45 p.m., the Mitchell camp contest, because the Police Federation officers wanted to ensure the story hit the evening news programmes on national television. Two members of that team told the world that Mitchell had refused to tell them what had been said and that he should now resign or be sacked. On the insistence of Mitchell’s wife Sharon, a Conservative press officer had recorded the conversation in Mitchell’s office and provided proof that the Police Federation version was untrue. Despite the alarming inaccuracies and untruths in their account, the meeting had given the story further longevity.


On 15 October, after a media siege that had lasted almost a full month, Parliament returned, much to Mitchell’s relief. Westminster gives a degree of protection and camaraderie to MPs under fire that is often able to raise spirits. Many MPs at Westminster have been under attack at some point in their careers and know what it’s like to feel the wrath of the press. A little sympathy and a few words of support can often go a long way.


But Mitchell knew that getting back to the House was also crunch time. The reaction of the parliamentary party, dominated by new MPs from the 2010 intake, would now be key to his survival. Mitchell attended the Chamber as Chief Whip on the Monday and Tuesday, and was heartened that things had gone as well as could have been expected. Yet he felt the position was hardening against him on the Conservative benches.


Mitchell felt, rightly or wrongly, that for the most part those Conservative MPs who had known him for years wouldn’t believe all the awful anecdotes of arrogance and meanness they had seen in the press week after week. However, several others had less faith in him. Many believed Westminster tales that had circulated for years about his abrasiveness and his quick temper and weren’t prepared to give the man nicknamed ‘Thrasher’ Mitchell (a moniker dating back to his school days) the benefit of the doubt. Now few had a decent word to say about him and many were more worried about how it would play for them in their marginal seat. Although many of the 2010 intake had won Labour seats on a rising tide, they hadn’t yet had to hold firm under heavy gunfire.


In difficult economic circumstances for the government, many just wanted Mitchell gone. It almost didn’t matter whether he had said the offending words or not. It was also time for some revenge, according to one MP close to Mitchell. Sacked whips now moved at Mitchell’s weakest point, as did several who were still in situ.


No. 10 and Mitchell had agreed that if they could see out Prime Minister’s Questions on the Wednesday, it would probably mean that the worst of it was over and some semblance of normality could return to everyday life. Mitchell was only just managing to do his job as Chief Whip with so much going on around him. The situation could not go on, not least because his health was suffering. A line had to be drawn under matters one way or the other.


Prime Minister’s Questions was brutal. The Labour leader, Ed Miliband, launched a full assault. Mitchell felt it was a very personal attack and ‘absolutely monstered’ him, although it was also felt that Cameron dealt with it effectively. Even senior members of the Labour Party later said the onslaught was over the top. However, Mitchell was also facing public criticism from his own side. Whispers started to circulate to undermine him. Michael Fabricant, who had left his job as a government whip in the clear-out that preceded Mitchell’s arrival, tweeted that ‘several MPs’ confirmed having heard Mitchell say in response to Miliband’s taunts that he didn’t swear at the police. Fabricant, who nonetheless remained Vice-Chairman of the Conservative Party, tweeted that Mitchell’s alleged claim had ‘re-ignited’ the story and put ‘a whole new light’ on the issue. It set a difficult scene for that evening’s 1922 Committee of Conservative backbench MPs.


Many ministers and MPs underestimate the power that ‘the 1922’ still has at big moments for the party. Few members are or ever have been whips. The moment to strike was at hand for those who wanted rid of Mitchell. It was obvious from the beginning that there was a level of orchestration, as the matter was raised early in proceedings. The language used now was less nuanced than usual, with less respect and less ambiguity.


As one of those who spoke against Mitchell later confirmed to me, ‘I wouldn’t have done it without permission.’ In the end, of the twelve Conservative backbenchers who spoke, eight spoke up for Mitchell, but the damage had already been done, because the first four spoke against him in a very forthright way. It looked as if Mitchell had lost the support of the parliamentary party. Mitchell himself had already decided he needed the clear backing of the committee, and the genuine extent of support for him wasn’t as clear as it could have been.


His position was destabilised even further when rumours began circulating that his deputy, John Randall, had been to see the Prime Minister the same afternoon to say he would resign if Mitchell didn’t go. As the Deputy Chief Whip, Randall was popular among backbench MPs and his departure would have been a shock to the parliamentary party. It would have been very unwelcome and set a dangerous precedent had Conservative MPs been forced to choose between the Chief Whip and his deputy.


Mitchell admits that the meeting of the full 1922 Committee was crucial in his decision to resign. He had met with the committee’s officers and had asked for a supportive statement. Although the officers gave their personal support, they refused his request without consulting the full committee. The Whips’ Office had also been collecting information from their flocks, as requested by Mitchell, to be fed in by Randall to the Prime Minister as an impartial source of information. The feedback was mixed and loyalties were becoming strained even in the Whips’ Office.


The cherry on the top of everything else was that the opposition were threatening to use an arcane parliamentary device to censure Mitchell by docking part of his salary, and to put the matter to full debate in the House of Commons. The notion that Mitchell would have to whip reluctant colleagues to vote for him to keep his salary was too much to take. At a dinner for government whips with Sir John Major that night at the Heraldry Museum, Randall didn’t show and Mitchell’s last trace of optimism vanished. The game was up.


The following morning, Mitchell decided it was time to go.


He had weathered Wednesday’s storm, and opinion was that he could probably survive with the Prime Minister’s ongoing support. The worst of the newspaper and TV coverage had also subsided. So why did Mitchell decide to go when he was probably through the worst?


‘The Labour motion convinced me it was going to go on and on,’ he says: it was the final straw. Having withstood twenty-eight days of incessant character assassination, and what he regarded as lies and distortions, Mitchell decided to go because of a parliamentary motion tabled by the Labour Party to cut his salary. The thought of whipping a parliamentary party dominated by a reluctant and rebellious 2010 intake for his own personal benefit was a hugely embarrassing prospect and he just couldn’t do it. He also felt that if he went on until the general election as Chief Whip, the word ‘pleb’ would be replayed constantly, leaving the party critically damaged. Enough was enough.


‘I’d had enough, my family had had enough, and the party had had enough,’ is how he explains his final decision to go. ‘There is only so much anyone can take, and I’d had to endure more than most human beings in similar situations. My children had exams coming up and I was in despair – it had to stop.’
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Whilst David Davis MP performed heroics for Mitchell throughout his difficulty, devising strategies, thinking through tactics, speaking out publicly and supporting him personally, there were others who were not so steadfast. Mitchell remembers meeting one colleague in the cloisters between Portcullis House and the Chamber:




He said to me, ‘You’ve got to carry on, don’t let the bastards get you, you’ve got to stay as our Chief Whip, I’m right behind you.’ He then walked down to the post office, up the stairs to the Members’ Lobby and told his whip I had to go. And then when I was vindicated he put an arm around my shoulder and said, ‘I was always supporting you, I’m so pleased that my faith has been justified.’ And I thought, ‘Shall I punch him in the face or shall I thank him?’ I just thanked him.





Mitchell cannot praise his friend Davis enough:




Long before all this, I once said that David was that very, very rare thing in politics: a man who, if I were caught between enemy lines lying in a fox hole with a bullet in my leg with the tracer rounds flying over the top, would come and get me. And I was in that situation and he did. There is no higher definition of friendship than that.





There are some in Mitchell’s camp who are deeply unforgiving of those who let him down. One MP told me:




Anna Soubry was his friend, whom he had helped to get selected in Gedling in 2005 [she lost that time to the Labour MP Vernon Coaker]. He gave her a lot of time and effort and support. Yet she went on Any Questions the night he resigned and she begins by saying ‘Andrew Mitchell was a great friend of mine’, and proceeds to rubbish him, saying he was right to ‘’fess up’ and resign.





Soubry had said on the BBC radio programme, ‘When we do something wrong we shouldn’t mess about, we should put our hands up. As my children would say, we should “’fess up,” apologise and do the decent thing which is to resign and I am pleased he has finally done that.’ One Mitchell supporter found it hard to contain his anger when he heard of Soubry’s remarks: ‘’Fess up? Andrew nearly had a heart attack!’ Another of Mitchell’s allies notes that Soubry ‘will pay a terrible price. I can’t tell you when or where, but she will pay a terrible price for that.’ When Soubry later described female doctors as ‘a burden’ on the NHS in a Commons debate, it was probably no accident that Mitchell’s wife and daughter – both doctors – weighed in and wrote to the national press accusing her of sexist language.


Soubry isn’t the only colleague who comes in for criticism from the Mitchell camp. Theresa May was believed to have been unsympathetic at the party conference and Iain Duncan Smith was making jokes about Mitchell being sent to Rwanda, where there were no gates. Mitchell believes it was some form of payback for when he was whip to the then arch-Eurosceptic rebel Duncan Smith during the fraught Maastricht votes in the early 1990s.


No. 10 does not escape criticism from the Mitchell camp either, with Jeremy Heywood and Craig Oliver criticised extensively for their failures. Oliver, in particular, is believed by Mitchell to have acted directly against his best interests on at least two occasions: once when he stopped ministers going out to defend Mitchell on television, and once when he tried to block the Channel 4 Dispatches programme by Michael Crick, which gravely undermined the allegations against Mitchell. Perhaps it is an important reminder for all politicians that when they find themselves at the centre of a storm, they may find that what is in their best interests and what is in the best interests of their party or its leadership start to diverge.


The situation Mitchell found himself in was analogous to Jeremy Hunt’s BSkyB ordeal. Both men felt wronged by the accusations being made against them, both felt that the allegations had come out of the blue and both felt that there were larger forces at work in stirring the story up. In Hunt’s case it was an anti-Murdoch coalition, in Mitchell’s it was the Police Federation.


Hunt had two advantages over Mitchell. First, he had the clear fire break that Leveson provided him with. He could and did make the case that Leveson should hear all the evidence before people decided his fate. It meant he could play for time and people had to accept that a judge-led inquiry was the best place to hear all the evidence. One side had made accusations through Leveson; surely the other side should be heard in the same way? It was a difficult logic to argue against.


Mitchell and No. 10 had no such option, particularly once Heywood had wrapped up his investigation quickly and seen no reason to suggest a larger investigation, during which some of the police’s statements could have been put to scrutiny. Mitchell and No. 10 agreed that lying low was the best option to take the sting out of events. No. 10 pointed out that, as Chief Whip, a low-public-profile position, Mitchell could stay out of sight and ride things out. It was a massive strategic error: the Chief Whip is the one position in Cabinet which requires the passive acquiescence of the parliamentary party. At the very least, Mitchell, No. 10, the Whips’ Office and others needed to make a pitch to the party that he should be supported. Radio silence was always likely to end in disaster. Hunt, to a greater extent, could last for as long as the Prime Minister continued to support him, though he too would have lost his job had he lost the confidence of the parliamentary party on the day he made his first statement to the Commons when the storm first broke. Of course, the Chief Whip didn’t have the advantage of being able to make a statement in the House.


For the Culture Secretary, authority resides in the support of the Prime Minister, but the Chief Whip is the one person in the room who might one day be required to tell the Prime Minister he’s got to go. That authority comes from the parliamentary party. Thus, as Chief Whip, the trust of the parliamentary party is absolutely paramount to doing the job and it must be maintained at all times.


The big dilemma for Mitchell once he had resigned was whether he should fight on. All the advice from Downing Street was to continue to lie low, not to overreact, not to fight; in due course (certainly by the end of the current parliament) his career would be back on course. Steeled and spurred on predominantly by David Davis and by his wife, Mitchell chose to fight back. As he rather bluntly puts it, ‘My political body was dumped by the side of the road by The Sun and the police. David Davis and my wife came and picked it up.’ But friends from across the political divide including Peter Mandelson, Charlie Falconer, Robert Harris and Chris Mullin also urged him on.


Having met with Mitchell, Channel 4’s Dispatches team decided that there was a strong case for his defence that had not been heard. They set about making that defence with the help of Davis and Mitchell. Although the CCTV ultimately obtained from Downing Street was crucial, so was the fact that Dispatches proved that Keith Wallis, the constituent of Deputy Chief Whip John Randall whose email had done so much damage, was in fact a police officer. A Met Police Assistant Commissioner visited Mitchell and Davis in the House of Commons in early December 2012 to tell them directly of this new evidence and inform them that Randall’s constituent, PC Wallis, had been arrested over the previous weekend. It left Mitchell speechless, literally unable to speak for several minutes. Once he had gathered his thoughts he called Ed Llewellyn and demanded to see the Prime Minister. Mitchell’s fight-back was in full flight by mid-December.
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